5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
BIO J. WHITE
MAY 1 1 19941
CHERK, SUPREME COURT
Chief Deducy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 83,502

JOHN EDWARD HOUCK, JR.,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT
OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT AND THE
NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR
ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CARMEN F. CORRENTE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #304565
444 Seabreeze Boulevard
Fifth Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant, John Edward Houck, Jr., was tried in Orange County, Florida based upon an amended information charging him with committing second degree murder in connection with the death of a George Tommie Carter. (R 3, 66) The amended information alleged that the Defendant had used a weapon -- pavement or a hard surface -- to inflict trauma to the victim's head, causing death. Reclassification was sought via §775.087(1), Fla. Stat. (1991) regarding the "use" of a weapon.

The trial court instructed the jury as to the offenses of second degree murder with a weapon, second degree murder without a weapon, manslaughter with a weapon, and manslaughter without a weapon. (R 532) The Defendant objected to standard instruction 3.05(b), which required the jury to factually determine whether a weapon was used in the commission of the offense. However, the trial court ultimately gave said instruction. (R 526,527) Additionally, the trial court refused to give an aggravated battery instruction which was requested by the Defendant. (R 402, 487)

Defendant was found guilty of manslaughter with a weapon and sentenced pursuant to the aforementioned reclassification for the use of weapon. A timely appeal was filed. After oral argument, the three judge panel unanimously ruled to uphold the conviction. A motion for rehearing was filed by the Defendant and, in an en banc proceeding, the remaining four judges formed a 4-3 majority which reversed the earlier opinion. Both decisions certified the "asphalt as a weapon" issue as one of great public importance. The state timely sought the discretionary review of this

Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The victim, George Tommie Carter, died from blunt force trauma to the head outside Anthony's Lounge in Orlando, Florida. Sharon Carter, the victim's sister-in-law, worked as a bartender in Anthony's Lounge. She testified that at approximately 1:30 am on November 16, 1991 she heard a sound like a pool cue stick breaking and thereafter noticed that the Defendant had a broken cue stick in his hand. The Defendant was escorted to the door when he cursed and swung at her husband, Jerry Carter, the victim's brother. (R 100) A fight involving a number of people ensued in the street outside the bar. (R 100-101)

Jerry Carter testified that after the fight spilled out into the street, he spent most of his time fighting with a person other than the Defendant. (R 149-150) Terry Howell, the victim's nephew, testified that he had a clear view of the Defendant leaning over the victim, shaking him. (R 185,189) He further observed the Defendant being pulled off the victim by Norman Rush. The victim looked "pretty well" unconscious at that time. (R 183-185)

Alexander Hiller also saw the Defendant on top of the victim, shaking the decedent and "smashing" the decedent's head against the asphalt pavement "several times." (R 196-198, 205-206) When pressed to be more specific about the number of times the victim's head was smashed against the pavement, Hiller stated that it was "in between five and ten" times. (R 211) Hiller testified that it was he who was responsible for getting the Defendant off of the victim. (R 198,199)

Cocktail waitress Tammy Anderson stated that she heard Terry Howell yell, "Hey, man, you hurt my uncle." She further heard the Defendant reply "Come out here, and I'll fucking hurt you, too." (R 218-219) Duey Lee also witnessed the Defendant push the victim to the ground, straddle him, and saw him "pounding" the victim's head against the pavement "at least" three or four times. (R 231, 233-235) He also heard the Defendant say that he was not going to "let [the victim] go." (R 238)

Bruce Brunsom, M.D., a neurological surgeon, testified as to the serious head injuries suffered by the victim and expressed his opinion that the head injuries received by the victim led to his death. (R 317-321) The pathologist who conducted the autopsy testified that the victim died of blunt force trauma causing head injuries consistent with the victim's head being knocked "at least three times" or "on several occasions" against a hard, flat surface. (R 379-380)

The Defendant and Jason Shuster testified that they went to the bar together and that they were both involved in altercations that evening. (R 421, 449-450) Both denied any knowledge of or responsibility for the victim's injuries.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The finding that the Defendant used the asphalt as a weapon was supported by the evidence, caselaw, jury instructions, and the verdict. A weapon is defined as any object that could be used to cause death or great bodily harm. It is the intended use of the item or object which characterizes whether or not it is a weapon. There is no controlling formula which could possibly define a "weapon" for all future cases. This issue is a question of fact for the jury to determine. The district court opinion holding otherwise should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

THE DEFINITION OF THE WORD "WEAPON" AS USED IN §775.087(1), FLA. STAT. (1991) PROPERLY ALLOWS THE JURY TO FIND THAT A PAVED SURFACE CONSTITUTES A DEADLY WEAPON WHERE THE DEFENDANT CAUSES THE VICTIM'S DEATH BY REPEATEDLY SMASHING THE VICTIM'S HEAD AGAINST THE PAVEMENT.

In its opinion, the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal first analyzed §775.087(1), Fla. Stat. (1991). That statute reclassifies a second degree felony to a first degree felony if the defendant "carries, displays, <u>uses</u>, threatens, or attempts to use any weapon or firearm." (emphasis supplied) However, the word "weapon" is not defined within said statute or chapter. The District Court therefore turned to a dictionary definition in concluding that a paved surface is not commonly understood to be an instrument for combat, i.e., a weapon.

The court ignored the more expansive definitions found in other dictionaries.

Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary, 3rd Edition, defines a weapon as "anything used or usable in injuring, destroying, or defeating an enemy or opponent." Black's Law Dictionary, (6th ed. 1990) defines weapon as "an instrument of offensive or defensive combat, or anything used ... in ... injuring a person. (all emphasis supplied)

Black's defines "dangerous weapon" as

any <u>article</u> which, in the circumstances in which it is used ... is readily capable of causing death or other serious bodily injury. [citation omitted] What constitutes a 'dangerous weapon' depends not on nature of the object but on its capacity, given manner of use, to endanger life or inflict great bodily

harm. [citation omitted] As the manner of use enters into the consideration as well as other circumstances, the question is often one of fact for the jury, but not infrequently one of law for the court. (emphasis supplied)

Similarly, the same source defines a "deadly weapon" as "any ... device, instrument, material or substance, whether animate or inanimate, which in the manner it is used ... is known to be capable of producing death or serious bodily injury."

As indicated by the above definition, the question of whether an item is a weapon can be either a matter of law or fact. The District Court clearly erred in determining that it is purely a question of law. More frequently, it is a factual matter to be decided by a jury. In Streeter v. State, 416 So. 2d 1203, 1205-6 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982) the court held that the instant question is one, like the felony charge itself, which must be made by the jury beyond a reasonable doubt. Accord U.S. v. Barnes, 569 F.2d 862 (5th Cir. 1978); Goswick v. State, 143 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 1962); State v. Nixon, 295 So. 2d 121 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974); State v. Fleming, 606 So. 2d 1229 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

Certainly, a brick, rock or piece of pavement can be a deadly weapon when it is wielded by an assailant. So it is not the substance or chemical makeup of the paved surface which would prevent a parking lot or street from functioning as a weapon. The focus therefore centers upon whether pavement can be a weapon when it is <u>used</u>, not carried. This point was cogently raised by Judge Harris in his dissent:

[s]ection 775.087(1) uses the terms 'carry' and 'use' in the disjunctive. This indicates

that the legislature is concerned not only with how the weapon gets to the site of the assault but also with the fact that a weapon, even if it is found at the assault site, is <u>used</u> to injure or kill another. And there is no basis for inferring that the legislature intended to preclude a brick or a 2" x 4" from being a weapon merely because they were designed for the benign purpose of construction.

In the instant case, the Defendant was able to achieve the death of the victim solely through the use of concrete or pavement. The Defendant would not likely have been able to inflict the same damage in the same amount of time with his fists alone. It is clear that the pavement accelerated the victim's injuries resulting in death; and there is no question that the Defendant <u>used</u> the asphalt to that end. The majority decision below finds that the legislature intended only to prohibit crimes committed with those items "commonly" considered to be weapons. This conclusion is contrary to established law and effectively rewrites the applicable statutes.

It is improper to judicially limit the definition of the word weapon to those weapons considered dangerous at the time the law was enacted. See Fall v. Esso Standard Oil Co., 297 F.2d 411 (5th Cir.), certiorari denied 371 U.S. 814, 83 S.Ct. 24, 9 L.Ed.2d 55 (1962) Advances in science and technology demand a case by case analysis by the fact finder. The standard jury instructions which were approved by this Court are consistent with the state's argument:

A "weapon" is legally defined to mean any object that could be used to cause death or great bodily harm.

An object is variously defined as anything placed before the senses or the totality of

external phenomena; Webster's Third International Dictionary (1985) anything that is visible or tangible and is relatively stable in form. Random House Dictionary, 2d Edition (1983) Clearly, pavement can be considered an "object;" the jury's determination comported with the approved jury instructions.

Automobiles were not designed or manufactured to be weapons; nor are they commonly referred to as weapons. Yet there is no doubt that cars can effect an intentional death. Similarly, a plate glass window is not a weapon -- unless perhaps a carotid artery is sliced open after an assailant pushes a victim through the glass. The question is whether the injuries were sustained as a result of an intentional act or happenstance. This is purely a question of fact, not of law.

Florida would not stand alone in deciding that a concrete or asphalt surface can be a weapon. See People v. Galvin, 65 N.Y.2d 761, 492 N.Y.S.2d 25, 481 N.E.2d 565 (1985); State v. Reed, 101 Or. App 277, 790 P.2d 551, review denied 310 Or. 195, 795 P.2d 554 (1990). The Defendant will no doubt argue that the rule of lenity applies. However, that is so only if the statute is ambiguous. U.S. v. Culbert, 435 U.S. 371, 98 S.Ct. 1112, 55 L.Ed.2d 349 (1978). The plain meaning of both the statute and the jury instruction is clear. Moreover, a statute should never be construed so strictly as to defeat the obvious intention of the legislature or to override common sense. See Barrett v. U.S., 423 U.S. 212, 96 S.Ct. 498, 46 L.Ed.2d 450 (1976); U.S. v. Moore, 423 U.S. 122, 96 S.Ct. 335, 46 L.Ed.2d 333 (1975).

The holding in <u>Duba v. State</u>, 446 So. 2d 1167 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) is instructive. While acknowledging that a criminal statute must be strictly construed,

the decision states:

[w]e hold that whether or not an <u>object</u> is a deadly weapon is a question of fact to be determined by the jury from the evidence, taking into consideration its size, shape and material and the **manner in which it was used**. (Duba at 1169, emphasis supplied)

This holding focuses upon the "use" of an "object" and is in direct conflict with the court's opinion under review.

The district court correctly notes that this question is one of first impression at the appellate level and one which may impact future cases and jury instructions. Its impact is already present for it is in conflict with the jury instructions. Under the district court's decision, a defendant who removes a loose brick from a cobblestone street and uses it to beat the victim to death would be eligible for reclassification. If that same brick was *en situ* and the defendant instead beat the victim's head into it, the defendant would not be subject to reclassification. Smashing a skull against a brick or a brick against a skull should not result in any criminal disparity. This distinction is farcical and must not be given the imprimatur of this Court.

The question presented is one of great public import and impact. Jurisdiction should be granted and the district court's opinion reversed.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, Appellee respectfully prays that this Honorable Court accept jurisdiction and reverse the decision of the district court, affirming the judgment and sentence of the trial court.

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CARMEN F. CORRENTE

ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

Fla. Bar #304565

444 Seabreeze Boulevard

Fifth Floor

Daytona Beach, FL 32118

(904) 238-4990