IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUN 13 1994 CLERK SUPREME COURT Third Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Petitioner,

83,502 SUPREME COURT CASE NO.:

5DCA CASE NO.: 92-2842

CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO.: CR91-13094

JOHN EDWARD HOUCK, JR.,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT AND THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

IRBY G. PUGH, ATTORNEY AT LAW

Florida Bar No.: 148635

218 Annie Street Orlando, Florida 32806

Phone No.: (407) 843-5840

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant responds to the definition Summary of the Argument of the State by saying that the question of whether or not a paved parking lot is a weapon for sentence enhancement purposes under Florida Statutes, §775.087(1), is a matter of law not fact in the The argument by the State that numerous context of this case. dictionaries must be consulted in order to determine the meaning intended by the legislation under §775.087(1), Florida Statutes. illustrates that the court must construe the statute well beyond the statute itself (which contains no definition), in order to apply it under the instant facts. Such construction is contrary to the need to strictly construe penal statutes where there is an ambiguity in the statute's terms or application. The majority opinion below is well-reasoned and exhaustively treated. The Court should either decline discretionary jurisdiction under the facts of this case, or adopt the en banc majority opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

In the event the Court accepts jurisdiction of this case, the Defendant urges the Court to vacate the judgment of the trial Court below and remand the proceedings to grant the Defendant a new trial. The grounds for this argument are that the Defendant was denied a fair trial because his requested jury instruction on aggravated battery was improperly denied.

ARGUMENT I

IT IS A LEGISLATIVE FUNCTION TO PROPERLY DEFINE THE TERM "WEAPON" IN §775.087(1), FLORIDA STATUTES, A PENAL STATUTE USED FOR SENTENCE ENHANCEMENT.

The State urges this Court to broadly construe the penal enhancement statute, §775.087(1), to include an immovable object which is not otherwise capable of being "used as a weapon" in the ordinary meaning of the term. This Court should prudently refrain from substituting its definition of the term "weapon" as the Court below did and confirm the en banc majority decision of the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal.

As pointed out below in the briefs submitted to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, innumerable substances could be a weapon under the broad construction urged by the State. For example, if a fight occurs as in the instant facts, and a person is pushed out of a window and strikes the ground, is the ground a weapon for penalty enhancement purposes? Under the construction urged by the State, this Court would have to struggle with such applications of the law. The statute in question, §775.087(1), Florida Statutes (1991), is for penalty enhancement. Under the instant sentencing in the trial Court, the offense was enhanced from Felony II to Felony I.

The majority opinion of the Court below is a cogent and logically reasoned opinion, with even the dissent conceding the well-reasoned analysis of the majority opinion. That opinion

reached the conclusion that the Court's obligation under Florida law is to strictly construe penal statutes and resolve any ambiguity in scope or application in favor of the accused. See Perkins v. State, 576 So.2d 1310, 1312 (Fla. 1991); Dixon v. State, 603 So.2d 570, 572 (Fla. 5th DCA) rev. den. 613 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1992); Duba v. State, 446 So.2d 1167, 1169 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). The Court held below:

"We agree with Houck's argument in his motion for rehearing that the original panel was in error in deeming the issue of whether a paved surface is a weapon to be one of fact. It is not. (Footnote omitted) It is a question for the court to determine as a matter of law. The failure of the statute to broadly define the term "weapon" cannot be cured by jury speculation. As Houck contends, the panel opinion would open a veritable "Pandora's Box" and allow a prosecutor, in conjunction with the jury, to turn almost any intentional injury into one For example, would the caused by a weapon. ground be transformed into a weapon merely because it was the point of impact for a person pushed from a cliff or high building? Would the water become a weapon if the victim was pushed overboard from an ocean liner?"

If this Court determines that the majority opinion of the Appellate Court (which comes to this Court clothed with a presumption of correctness) is incorrect, then it will be faced with a "veritable Pandora's Box" of possible constructions, each of which would have to be dealt with on a separate basis. That is a legislative function not a judicial one. The proper inquiry under the law and facts below is whether or not the legislature of the State of Florida has written §775.087(1) in such a way as to make

it plainly and unmistakably clear that the term "weapon" encompasses an object like the ground which is an inherent part of the surrounding environment that is incapable of being physically possessed, brought to the scene and dominated by the actor. Clearly, that is the ordinary meaning of "use of a weapon".

The Appellate decision below cited jurisdictions which have considered the issue and have decided that objects which are part of the environment and are not dominated by the actor are not weapons. The issue before this court to consider for discretionary jurisdiction, as stated in the opinion below, is:

"Since the issue we have addressed in this opinion -- the meaning of the word "weapon" as used in section 775.087(1), Florida Statutes (1991) -- is one of first impression at the appellate level and one which may impact upon future cases and jury instructions, we certify it to the Florida Supreme Court as one of great public importance."

Therefore, it is respectfully urged that it would be a strained interpretation or construction of the term "weapon" to construe objects that are inseparable and remain a part of the environment as a weapon. That point is clearly illustrated in the State's argument by its numerous grasping of definitions from various dictionary sources to try to urge an open-ended construction of the word "weapon". The legislature should define the term "weapon" as it is intended to be used in Florida Statutes, §775.087(1). It is not for the jury to decide if the legislature meant for a paved ground surface to be a "weapon" in the context of an enhancement statute which contained no definition of the term "weapon". Nor is

it the judiciary's role to engage in judicial legislation, particularly given that penal statutes are to be strictly construed.

The majority opinion of the Court below has used the statutory construction principle of ejusdem genris in its construction of the term "weapon" and the entire Court sitting en banc has acknowledged that the Florida Legislature has never indicated that it ever intended for the term "weapon" to include an immovable structure inherently located within the environment, such as a paved parking lot. The lower Court opinion states:

"The rule of "ejusdem genris" provides that where general words follow enumeration of specified persons or things, such general words are not to be construed in their widest extent, but are to be held as applying only to persons or things of the same general kind or class as those specifically mentioned. Black's law Dictionary, 464 (5th ed. 1979). Therefore, the general words "other deadly weapon" cannot be construed as encompassing a paved surface, which is not in the same general class as those instruments and devices enumerated in the statute. A paved surface is an immovable structure that is incapable of personally possessed, handled, wielded in the manner of a dirk (knife), club or chemical device."

Accordingly, it is urged either that discretionary jurisdiction not be granted by this Court; or alternatively, that if jurisdiction is accepted, that this Court affirm and adopt the carefully crafted majority en banc decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

ARGUMENT II

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S REQUEST THAT THE JURY BE INSTRUCTED ON AGGRAVATED BATTERY AS A LESSER OFFENSE.

At the charge conference the Defendant requested that an instruction be given on aggravated battery as a lesser offense to second degree murder (R. 402, 487). The Court denied the request (R. 402-403, 492) and ultimately submitted the case to the jury with instructions and a verdict form which identified manslaughter (with or without a weapon) as the only applicable lesser offense (R. 82, 525-526). Due to Defendant's timely and specific request for the instruction, this issue is preserved for judicial review. See Hewitt v. State, 575 So.2d 273 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

Ordinarily, it would not be error for a trial court to refuse to give a requested instruction on non-homicide lesser offenses, such as aggravated battery or battery, in a murder case. Martin v. State, 342 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1977). However, Florida law does recognize an exception to that general rule which becomes applicable when there is an issue for the trier of fact as to whether the death was caused by the defendant's act, or some other cause. The viability of this exception is reflected in cases such as Drotar v. State, 433 So.2d 1005 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), review denied, 443 So.2d 979 (Fla. 1984), and Rossi v. State, 602 So.2d 614 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); as well as in the Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases. See In Re Standard Jury Instructions and Criminal Cases, 543 So.2d 1205, 1233 (Fla. 1989);

Standard Jury Instructions--Criminal Cases, 603 So.2d 1175, 1250 (Fla. 1992).

In <u>Drotar v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, the issue on appeal was whether the trial court had erred in giving an aggravated battery instruction, over defense objection, in a second degree murder trial. The facts in the case were that Drotar and the victim had engaged in a violent fight during which the defendant had kicked the victim in the stomach and stomped him in the chest. Later, while the semiconscious victim was being readied by by-standers for transport to a hospital, the victim rolled off a make-shift stretcher and struck the windshield of a parked car. The injured person ultimately died with the cause of death pinpointed as internal bleeding caused by blunt trauma. On review, the Court upheld the trial judge's giving of a non-homicide lesser at the State's request, noting that the case involved an issue of fact as to whether the victim died as a consequence of the fall from the stretcher, or from the altercation with Drotar.

A case with extremely similar facts to the case <u>sub judice</u> is <u>Rossi v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. There, the defendant, Rossi, was charged with second degree murder and convicted of manslaughter as a consequence of his participation in a brawl outside a bar. Just as in the case <u>sub judice</u>, with the testimony of Alex Hiller and Duey Lee, there was evidence indicating Rossi inflicted fatal injuries on the victim. However, there was also evidence that the victim may have sustained his injuries at the hands of someone other than

Rossi during the course of a "chaotic and confusing fight".

The case at bar, like Rossi, supra, arises from a highly chaotic and confusing brawl outside a bar -- a brawl which involved an unspecified number of people and which was described by prosecution witness, Tammy Anderson, as follows: "It was chaos. There [were] groups of people...fighting" (R. 215). Sharon Carter, the decedent's sister-in-law, gave a similar description of the brawl (R. 100). Notwithstanding the testimony of Alex Hiller and Duey Lee which had the Defendant pounding Tommie Carter's head against the pavement -- the Defendant's jury could also have chosen to conclude that the decedent may have sustained fatal injuries at the hands of someone other than the Defendant. The proposition that Tommie Carter's injuries were inflicted by another, was clearly the defense raised by Defendant's testimony (R. 461, 463, And, it was a defense that had support in the record by 469). virtue of the fact that most of the State's eyewitnesses such as Sharon Carter, Jerry Carter, Terry Howell, and Tammy Anderson never claimed to have seen the head-banging episode described by Alex Hiller and Duey Lee. Three of the eyewitnesses just mentioned (Sharon Carter, Jerry Carter, and Tammy Anderson) never saw any physical contact whatsoever between the Defendant and Tommie Carter. Moreover, Tammy Anderson's account of re-entering the bar to get Norm Rush, then exiting the bar contemporaneously with Norm Rush, and running directly over to give comfort to Tommie who was lying alone on the ground (R. 215-218) is essentially

irreconcilable with Terry Howell's and Duey Lee's testimony about Norm Rush either pulling or attempting to pull the Defendant off Tommie Carter. Ms. Anderson's testimony was that she stayed right beside Tommie until such time as the paramedics arrived and that she never saw Norm Rush involve himself with the Defendant or intervene in any of the fighting (R. 215, 218).

In short, just as in <u>Rossi v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Drotar</u>, <u>supra</u>, there was a legitimate issue for the trier of fact as to whether the victim's death was caused by the Defendant, or by some other person's actions during the brawl. Accordingly, the trial court erred in refusing to instruct Defendant's jury on the non-homicide lesser offense of aggravated battery. Under <u>Rossi v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 615, the Defendant would have been entitled to have his jury instructed on simple battery as well.

In the event that this Court accepts jurisdiction as urged by the State, the Defendant respectfully requests that this Court review and consider granting the relief set out in Point II of Defendant's original Appellate Brief as set out hereinabove.

Defendant is seeking a new trial due to the trial Court's refusal to instruct the jury that aggravated battery is a lesser-included crime under the facts <u>sub judice</u>. The Statement of the Facts show that the Defendant became involved in what was essentially a contemporaneous chaotic brawl.

The Defendant urges this Court to reverse his conviction and sentence, and to remand for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

It is a legislative function to properly define a statutory term. The Florida legislature did not define a "weapon" in §775.087(1), Florida Statutes, a penalty enhancement statute, to include a parking lot surface. The majority opinion of the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal is logical, exhaustively treated, and well-reasoned. This Court should deny its discretionary jurisdiction in this case.

In the event that this Court accepts jurisdiction, it is urged that the trial Court judgment of conviction be reversed and a new trial ordered for the Defendant.